International Zeitschrift (IZ) 7.1, May 2011

http://www.zeitschrift.co.uk/indexv7n1

Unanimism: Between Sociology and Psychology

Sirus Kashefi

PhD (Law), Panthéon-Sorbonne, Paris PhD student, Osgoode Hall Law School, Toronto



Mass population unbelievably has a manipulable power that is perfectly abused by Politicians, Religious leaders, or any Demagogue.

Sirus Kashefi

Étienne de La Boétie

[&]quot;All servitude is voluntary and the slave is more despicable than the tyrant is hateful."

Contents

Abstract	3
1. Introduction	3
1.1 Definition	
1.2 History	4
2. Characteristics	
2.1 Sociological Characteristics	5
2.1.1 Unanimism before Individualism	
2.1.2 Abilene Paradox	
2.1.3 Collective Behavior	
2.1.4 Collective Effervescence	
2.1.5 Voluntary Servitude	
2.2 Psychological Characteristics	
2.2.1 Collective Consciousness	8
2.2.3 Crowd Psychology	9
2.2.4 Collective Unconsciousness	9
3. Some Critics of Unanimism	
Bibliography	11
Selective Bibliography	12

Abstract

Unanimism is relatively a new concept in the world of literature, sociology, psychology, and philosophy. This paper tries to explain, especially under a socio-psychological ground, why and how a group, crowd or population acts. Firstly, it explains the definition and history of Unanimism. Then, it analyzes the characteristics or the factors that influence Collective behavior in time and space. As human beings, Collective behavior has its own consciousness and unconsciousness (psychological characteristic). However, its consciousness and unconsciousness can be different from its participants or members. Indeed, collectivity has a special personality that acts with rationality or irrationality (social characteristic). Finally, this essay will criticize Unanimism.

1. Introduction

1.1 Definition

In research, it is very important to define the subject, as the definition represents the borders of the research. Unanimism means a group of people, large or small, behaves in a special manner that does not necessarily conform with the intention of its components (members or participants). In reality, the concept of Unanimism is a French expression (*Unanimisme*) that was founded by Jules Romains (1885-1972), a French poet and writer in the 20th century.

Furthermore, it is important to notice that Unanimism contains a rich terminology. Insofar as a researcher finds several expressions that are synonym or, at least, connected to Unanimism. However, every one of these expressions tries to explain and develop some special aspects of collective behavior under the literary, social, psychological, or philosophical theories being scarcely numerous. As far as this essay is concerned, we should limit our research to some social and psychological aspects of the concept of Unanimism. However, we will also use some philosophical terms about this concept.

¹ Such as Collective consciousness, Collective behavior, Collective effervescence, Crowd psychology, Groupthink, or Abilene paradox.

² Cf. Selective Bibliography, and Concepts, Theories, and Theorists regarding Unanimism at the end of this essay.

1.2 History

In reality, Unanimism is a movement in French literature begun by Romains, whose well-known book is titled *Les Hommes de bonne volonté* (The Men of Good Will).³ As for this research, the literary aspect is voluntarily avoided in order to develop the social and psychological aspects of Unanimism. Although Gustave Le Bon (1841-1931), a French social psychologist, sociologist, and an amateur physicist, is one of the first to explain the crowd behavior, his theory is still used by many scientists⁴. Before these thinkers, Étienne de La Boétie (1530-1563), a French judge, writer, and political philosopher, had briefly developed some sociological aspects of Unanimism in his valuable essay written in the 16th century.⁵

2. Characteristics

First of all, we should answer one principal question depicting the characteristics of Unanimism. What are the characteristics, or factors, of Unanimism?

Indeed, Unanimism is a group of acts in different manners: spontaneous, emotional, conscious, unconscious, ordered, disordered, or even criminal. In fact, collective behavior has its own social and psychological characteristics that might usually be far from individual acts. Furthermore, Unanimism can cause revolutionary, social, or violent behaviors regarding its political, social, and religious ideas.

It is very important to note that the psychological and social characteristics very much overlap each other. On the one hand, scholars in social psychology are both psychologists and sociologists; on the other hand, all social psychologists use both the individual and the group as their units of analysis. Therefore, the plan of this essay dividing into psychological and sociological elements can sometimes appear both fictitious and arbitrary.

Finally, regarding the breadth of the subject, we do not pretend to present an exhaustive essay. In other words, this essay briefly explains some sociological (Part 2.1) and psychological characteristics (Part 2.2) of Unanimism. Finally, it will conclude by presenting some critics of Unanimism (Part 3).

³ It was published in French in 27 volumes between 1932 and 1946. The work was an attempt to re-create the spirit of French society from Oct. 6, 1908, to Oct. 7, 1933.

⁴ LE BON (Gustave), *The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind*, New York: Penguin Books, 1977.

⁵ See LA BOÉTIE (Étienne de), *Discours de la Servitude Volontaire*, Paris: A. Colin, 1963.

⁶ http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Social_psychology.

2.1 Sociological Characteristics

2.1.1 Unanimism before Individualism

Romains originally believes Unanimism is an opposition to individualism or to the exaltation of individual characteristics. In his opinion, it is a kind of universal sympathy with life, existence, and humanity.

In reality, the apparition of Unanimism is much more ancient than Individualism. Insofar as Moses introduced the concept of "people" as a reality in which every individual had to lose his/her individuality.⁷ In ancient Rome, we observe the concept of "Roman people" depicting the group of persons that subjected themselves to the Roman State, symbolized by the acronym of SPQR (*Senatus Populusque Romanus*): the Senate and the Roman People.⁸

According to Caratini, Individualism was recovered by the Christian thought in Europe, where God's love constituted a personal relationship. Furthermore, he believes that Nietzsche (1844-1900), a German philosopher and classical philologist, gave a philosophic value to the individualist thought. However, before Nietzsche, Kierkegaard (1813-1855), a Danish philosopher and theologian, had put individual in the highest scale of values. We should notice that Nietzsche and Kierkegaard are the founders of existentialism.

For Nisbet (1913-1996), an American conservative sociologist, Individualism appeared in the ancient Greek society during the Cleisthenean reforms (509 BC.). Instead of the tradition of kinship-based pluralism of Athenian authority, Cleisthens created a new monolithic unity that arose from governmental system reaching directly down to the individual citizen. Therefore, there was in the new Athens "a manifest individualism, sprung from the fact that henceforth the individual, not the kinship group, was the irreducible and unalterable unit of the Athenian military-political system." In fact, before the Cleisthenean reforms, there existed kinship guilt, because "the family, even the clan and whole tribe,

⁷ Cf. CARATINI (Roger), *Initiation à la philosophie*, Paris: l'Arhipel, 2000, p. 646.

⁸ CARATINI (Roger), op. cit., p. 648.

⁹ Cf. ibid., p. 649.

¹⁰ Ibid., p. 652. As far as Nietzsche's work about individualism is concerned, see NIETZSCHE (Friedrich Wilhelm), *Thus Spoke Zarathustra*, 1883-1885.

¹¹ Cf. CARATINI (Roger), op. cit., pp. 625 and 708.

¹² NISBET (Robert), *The Social Philosophers: Community and Conflit in Wetsren Thought*, New York: Thomas Y. Crowell Company, 1973, p. 32. See also BUTTS (R. Freeman), *The Morality of Democratic Citizenship: Goals for Civic Education in the Republic's Third Century*, Center for Civic Education Calabasas, California, 1988, Ch. Three.

¹³ NISBET (Robert), op. cit., p. 33.

bore the guilt and also the responsibility for offenses committed by" the individual. ¹⁴ The Cleisthenean reform replaced kinship guilt with *individual guilt*. ¹⁵

For some authors, to know where one belonged, during the Middle Ages, meant to know who one was. ¹⁶ Therefore, "identity was not personal but communal, a matter of affiliation, status and role. One was a Baker or a Smith, perhaps a Goldsmith, or one was Mat's son; that was all the ID that was needed either for external recognition or internal self-assurance. Not to know where one belonged was to be truly alien, unprotected and unacknowledged, homeless mind without a sense of self." Furthermore, "the discovery of the individual, the creation or invention of "modern man," was also paradoxically the source of the first portent of alienation, the first sense of peril to the integrity and dignity of the human person." Indeed, the new consciousness of individual personality, produced by the Renaissance and celebrated by the Enlightenment, was counterbalanced by the consciousness of opposing forces bent upon the destruction of personality. ¹⁹

In reality, we are witnessing the passage from a unit society to an individualized society whose members find their individuality, but never their dignity and sense of existence. Historically and socio-psychologically, this passage explains how the ancient society, based on the circular relationships between kinship and State, was firstly changed to the modern society, based on the linear relationships among human rights, and was then changed to postmodern society, based on countless individual rights.

2.1.2 Abilene Paradox

According to Jerry Harvey, professor of management science, "the *Abilene paradox* is a paradox in which a group of persons collectively decide on a course of action that is counter to the preferences of any of the persons in the group. It is caused by a common breakdown of group communication in which each member mistakenly thinks that their own preferences are counter to the group's, and, therefore, do not raise any objections."²⁰

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 103.

¹⁵ Ibid., p. 103.

¹⁶ MONTAGU (Ashley) & MATSON (Floyd), *The Dehumanization of Man*, New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1983, p. xix.

¹⁷ Ibid., p. xix.

¹⁸ Ibid., p. xx.

¹⁹ Ibid., p. xx.

²⁰ See HARVEY (Jerry B.), "The Abilene Paradox: The Management of Agreement," *Organizational Dynamics*, Vol. 17, No. 1, 1988, pp. 17-43; HARVEY (Jerry B.), *The Abilene Paradox and Other Meditations on Management*, Lexington and San Diego: Lexington Books and University Associates, 1988; HARVEY (Jerry B.), *How Come Every Time I Get Stabbed In The Back, My Fingerprints Are on The Knife?*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1999.

2.1.3 Collective Behavior

The expression of *collective behavior* is coined by Robert Ezra Park (1864-1944), an American urban sociologist and one of the main founders of the original Chicago School of sociology. Next, Herbert Blumer (1900-1987), an American sociologist, developed the theory of collective behavior. According to this theory, a collectivity can be neither conformist (following prevailing norms) nor criminal (in violations of the norms), while it acts in a spontaneous way. This theory takes four forms: the crowd, the public, the mass, and the social movement.

In his famous work, *The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind* (1896), Gustave Le Bon, on the one hand, interpreted the French Revolution as irrational reversions to animal emotion, and, on the other hand, inferred from it that such a reversion is characteristic of crowds in general. In fact, Le Bon depicted the "Contagion theory" or "Popular mind", insomuch as the crowd assumes a life of its own, while it creates emotions and pushes people toward irrational, even violent actions. Le Bon's ideas are developed by Gabriel Tarde (1843-1904), a French sociologist, criminologist, and social psychologist. Tarde believes individuals sociologically act according to the laws of imitation and innovation.

Le Bon's theory is similar to the theory called "Herd behavior", containing the biological aspects of Unanimism. As this term depicts, like the behavior of animals in a herd, a group of people can act together without a planned direction. Such theory is contrary to theories of "Groupthink" and "Group dynamics" which are based on consensus, thinking, and making decisions.

However, Richard Berk, an American sociologist, has justly criticized Le Bon's theory in *The Myth of the Madding Crowd* (1991). He holds the crowd acts in several dimensions, and the traditional stereotypes of emotionality and unanimity often do not describe what happens. Furthermore, despite the factor called "safety in numbers"²¹, we cannot find any compelling research evidence to shows a fundamentally irrational basis to collective behavior.²²

2.1.4 Collective Effervescence

In this point of view, collectivity is one kind of energy formed by the gathering of people during a social event, such as a sporting event, a carnival, a rave, or a riot. This energy can cause people to act differently than in their everyday life.

²¹ According to this factor, "the larger the number of people involved in an action, the less the blame for that action can be attributed to any one individual." HAGEDORN (Robert), Sociology, 4th ed., Toronto: Dave Dimmel, 1990, p. 514.

²² HAGEDORN (Robert), op. cit., p. 515. About *Criticisms of Collective Behaviour Theories*, see ibid. pp. 513-515.

Émile Durkheim (1858-1917), a French sociologist, developed some ideas about collective effervescence in *Elementary Forms of the Religious Life* (1912) being essentially based on studies of the Australian aborigines. In his opinion, the division of universal religious into profane and sacred results from the lives of these tribe members, which is mostly spent on performing menial (survival) tasks, such as hunting and gathering. If these tasks are profane, the rare events on which the whole tribe gathers together becomes sacred, and the high energy level associated with these events gets directed onto physical objects or people which then become sacred.

2.1.5 Voluntary Servitude

"Voluntary Servitude" is a socio-political theory being presented by La Boétie in his essay titled the *Discours on Voluntary Servitud (Discours de la servitude volontaire)* in the middle of 16th century. La Boétie is often considered one of the earliest advocates of civil disobedience and nonviolent resistance. However, I think that he is far from being embraced by the last characteristic, while he believes: "A subject people shows neither gladness nor eagerness in combat: its men march sullenly to danger almost as if in bonds, and stultified; they do not feel throbbing within them that eagerness for liberty which engenders scorn of peril and imparts readiness to acquire honor and glory by a brave death amidst one's comrades." His ideas about dominated people by the tyrant are very interesting. I believe he depicts a "Collective responsibility", when he write: "A people enslaves itself, cuts its own throat, when, having a choice between being vassals and being free men, it deserts its liberties and takes on the yoke, gives consent to its own misery, or, rather, apparently welcomes it."

2.2 Psychological Characteristics

2.2.1 Collective Consciousness

"Collective consciousness"²³ refers to the common beliefs and moral attitudes that operate as a unifying force within society. This term is used by Durkheim in his books *The Division of Labor* (1893), *The Rules of Sociological Method* (1895), *Suicide* (1897), and *The Elementary Forms of Religious Life*. In *The Division of Labor*, he argues that in "traditional" or "mechanical" societies, based around clan, family or tribal relationships, religion played an important role in uniting members through the creation of a common consciousness. In these societies, the contents of an "individual's

8

²³ Conscience collective in the original French.

consciousness" are largely shared in common with all other members of their society. In this way, they create a mechanical solidarity through mutual likeness.

When it comes to punishment, Durkheim is a strong advocate of morality in society. So, he believes that having good strong morals prevents society from disintegrating. Disintegration happens if the collective conscience has become weak.

2.2.3 Crowd Psychology

"Crowd psychology", or "social facilitation theory," assesses that people can typically gain direct power by acting collectively. In fact, a large group of people is able to bring dramatic and sudden social change in a manner that bypasses established due process, and can provoke controversy. Social scientists have developed different theories for explaining "Crowd psychology", and the ways in which the psychology of the crowd differs significantly from the psychology of those individuals within it. If Carl Jung (1875-1961), a Swiss psychiatrist and the founder of analytical psychology, developed the theory of the "Collective Unconsciousness", other major thinkers of crowd psychology (such as Le Bon; Wilfred Trotter (1872-1939), a British surgeon and a pioneer in neurosurgery; Gabriel Tarde (1843-1904), a French sociologist and criminologist; Sigmund Freud (1856-1939), an Austrian psychiatrist and the founder of the psychoanalytic school of psychology; and Elias Canetti (1905-1994), a Bulgarian-born novelist) classically present psychological characteristics.

Freud considers that people in a crowd act differently than those who are thinking individually. In fact, the minds of the group merge together to form a way of thinking. Each member's enthusiasm is increased as a result, and one becomes less aware of the true nature of one's actions.

Ralph Herbert Tuner and Lewis Killian, American sociologists, have recently developed the "Emergent-norm theory" of crowd dynamics. They argue that crowd behavior reflects, on the one hand, the desires of participants, and, on the other hand, it is guided by norms that emerge as the situation unfolds. This theory points out that people in a crowd take different roles, such as leaders, inactive bystanders or even opponents.

2.2.4 Collective Unconsciousness

"Collective Unconscious", or known to laymen as "Collective Subconscious" is a term of analytical psychology. While Freud does not distinguish between a collective psychology and an individual psychology, Jung distinguishes the collective unconscious from the personal subconscious

particular to each human being. The collective subconscious is also known as a reservoir of the experiences of human species.

3. Some Critics of Unanimism

We have briefly examined the principal aspects of Unanimism under its social and psychological aspects. Unanimism is usually opposite of Individualism, because the former takes precedence when it comes to respecting individual rights, or more precisely his rights to act as he does. It may be evident why communitarianism, or even communism, is so close to totalitarism. However, the theories of Unanimism have timidly explained the role of *leadership* and propaganda in crowd psychology or collective behavior.²⁴ In every group, mass population or society, there is often a leadership, or more accurately a decision-maker, over the others (members or participants). Edward Louis Bernays (1891-1995), one of the pioneers in public relations, says: "*If you can influence the leaders, either with or without their conscious cooperation, you automatically influence the group which they sway.*" In reality, these "public relations techniques" increasingly develop, and consequently strengthen the role of leadership in manipulation and propaganda.

So, what does "Collective consciousness" or "Collective unconsciousness" mean? Is it not the same as "conscious leadership" or "unconscious leadership"? Serge Moscovici, a French social psychologist, has justly noted that the majority influence in many ways is misleading, because if the majority was indeed all-powerful, we would all end up thinking the same. In addition, his study suggests that minorities can have an effect on the opinion of a majority²⁶.

In reality, some of the Unanimism is very dangerous, when we consider that the fascist theories of leadership, which emerged in the 1920s, owed much to Le Bon's theories of crowd psychology. Indeed, Hitler's *Mein Kampf* (My Struggle) drew largely on the propaganda techniques proposed in Le Bon's book (The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind). In his famous book *Propaganda* (1928), Bernays wrote a major feature of democracy was the manipulation of the mass mind by media and advertising.

²⁴ The Discourse of Voluntary Servitude seems to be an exception.

²⁵ http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Edward_Bernays.

²⁶ About leadership, see Kurt Lewin, and Organizational studies.

Bibliography

ADAMS (Simon), *Propaganda in War & Peace: Manipulation the Truth*, Chicago: Illinois, Heinemann Library, 2006.

AUDI (Robert) (ed.), *The Cambridge Dictionary of Philosophy*, Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press, firts published 1995.

BERNAYS (Edward Louis), Crystallizing Public Opinion, New York: Boni and Liveright, 1923.

BERNAYS (Edward Louis), *Democratic Leadership in Total War*, Cleveland: Western Reserve University 1943.

BERNAYS (**Edward Louis**), "Manipulating Public Opinion: The Why and The How," *American Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 33, No. 6, 1928, pp. 958-971.

BERNAYS (Edward Louis), Propaganda, New York: H. Liveright, 1928.

BERNAYS (**Edward Louis**), *Verdict of Public Opinion on Propaganda*, New York: Universal Trade Press Syndicate, 1927.

BLUMER (Herbert), "Collective Behavior," in LEE (Alfred McClung) (ed.), New Outline of the Principles of Sociology, New York: Barnes & Noble, 1951, pp. 67-121.

BUTTS (R. Freeman), The Morality of Democratic Citizenship: Goals for Civic Education in the Republic's Third Century, Center for Civic Education Calabasas, California, 1988.

CARATINI (Roger), Initiation à la philosophie, Paris: l'Arhipel, 2000.

DICANIO (Margaret), The Encyclopedia of Violence: Origines, Attitudes, Consequences, New York: Facts on File, 1993.

DURKHEIM (Émile), Suicide: A Study in Sociology, New York: Free Press, 1997.

DURKHEIM (Émile), The Division of Labor in Society, New York: Free Press, 1997.

DURKHEIM (Émile), The Elementary Forms of Religious Life, New York: Free Press, 1995.

DURKHEIM (Émile), The Rules of Sociological Method, New York: Free Press, 1982.

FREUD (**Sigmund**), Group Psychology and the Analysis of the Ego, New York: Liveright, 1922.

HAGEDORN (Robert), Sociology, 4th ed., Toronto: Dave Dimmel, 1990.

HARVEY (Jerry B.), "The Abilene Paradox: The Management of Agreement," *Organizational Dynamics*, Vol. 17, No. 1, 1988, pp. 17-43.

HARVEY (Jerry B.), *The Abilene Paradox and Other Meditations on Management*, Lexington and San Diego: Lexington Books and University Associates, 1988.

HARVEY (Jerry B.), How Come Every Time I Get Stabbed In The Back, My Fingerprints Are on The Knife?, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1999.

LA BOÉTIE (Étienne de), Discours de la Servitude Volontaire, Paris: A. Colin, 1963.

LE BON (Gustave), Les Lois psychologiques de l'évolution des peuples, 1894.

LE BON (Gustave), The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind, New York: Penguin Books, 1977.

LLOYD (Annemaree), "Guarding against Collective Amnesia? Making Significance Problematic: An Exploration of Issues," Library Trends, Vol. 56, No. 1, 2007, pp. 53-65.

MONTAGU (Ashley) & MATSON (Floyd), *The Dehumanization of Man*, New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1983.

MOSCOVICI (Serge), *Social Influence and Social Change*, London and New York: Academic Press, 1976.

MOSCOVICI (Serge), Psychologie des minorités actives, Paris: PUF, 1979.

MOSCOVICI (Serge), L'Age des foules: un traité historique de psychologie des masses, Bruxelles: Complexe, 1985.

MOSCOVICI (Serge), Social Representations: Explorations in Social Psychology, New York: New York University Press, 2001.

NISBET (**Robert**), *The Social Philosophers: Community and Conflit in Wetsren Thought*, New York: Thomas Y. Crowell Company, 1973.

PRATKANIS (**Anthony R.**) & **ARONSON** (**Elliot**), *Age of propaganda: the everyday use and abuse of persuaison*, New York: W. H. Freeman and Company, 1992.

ROMAINS (Jules), Les hommes de bonne volonté, Paris: J'ai lu, 1963.

RUDÉ (George), The Crowd in History. A Study of Popular Distrubances in France and England, 1730-1848, London: Serif, 2005.

TURNER (Ralph) & LEWIS (M. Killian), Collective Behavior, 4th ed., Englewood Cliffs: Prentice 1993.

Selective Bibliography

ADORNO (**Theodor**), "Freudian Theory and the Pattern of Fascist Propaganda," in BERNSTEIN (J. M.), *The Culture Industry: Selected Essays on Mass Culture*, London: Routledge, 1991, p. 132.

AHLFINGER (Richardson Noni) & ESSER (James K.), "Testing the Groupthink Model: Effects of Promotional Leadership and Conformity Predisposition", *Social Behavior and Personality*, Vol. 29, No. 1, 2001, pp. 31-42.

AMIDON (Mark), "Groupthink, Politics and the Decision to Attempt the Son Tay Rescue", *Parameters*, Autumn 2005, pp. 119-131.

BANERJEE (Abhijit V.), "A Simple Model of Herd Behavior," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 107, No. 3, pp. 797-817.

BARON (R. S.), "So Right It's Wrong: Groupthink and the Ubiquitous Nature of Polarized Group Decision Making", *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, Vol. 37, 2005, pp. 219-253.

BERK (Richard A.), Collective Behavior, Dubuque: W. C. Brown, 1974.

BIKHCHANDANI (Sushil) ET AL., "A Theory of Fads, Fashion, Custom, and Cultural Change as Information Cascades", *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 100, No.5, 1992, pp. 992-1026.

BION (Wilfred R.), Experiences in Groups: And Other Papers, New York: Basic Books, 1961.

BRILL (Lesley), "Terrorism, Crowds and Power, and the Dogs of War," *Anthropological Quarterly*, Vol. 76, No. 1, 2003, pp. 87-94.

BRUNNERMEIER (Markus Konrad), Asset Pricing under Asymmetric Information: Bubbles, Crashes, Technical Analysis, and Herding, Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press, 2001.

BUFORD (Bill), Among the Thugs: The Experience, and the Seduction, of Crowd Violence, New York: Norton, 1990.

BUSCHINI (Fabrice) & KALAMPALIKISIN (Nikos) (ed.), *Penser la vie, le social, la nature. Mélanges en l'honneur de Serge Moscovici*, Paris: Maison des sciences de l'homme, 2001.

CANETTI (Elias), Crowds and Power, New York: Seabury Press, 1978.

COOKE (**D.**), "Book review – Wilfred Trotter, Instincts of the Herd in Peace and War, 1916-1919, London, Keynes Press, 1985", Medical History, Vol. 31, No. 1, 1987, pp. 113-4.

COTÉ (James E.) & LEVINE (Charles G.), *Identity Formation, Agency, and Culture: A Social Psychological Synthesis*, Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum, 2002.

DYER (William) ET AL., Team Building: Proven Strategies for Improving Team Performance, 4th ed., San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2007.

FORSYTH (**Donelson R.**), *Group Dynamics*, 5th ed., Belmont: Wadsworth Cengage Learning, 2010. **GIDDENS** (**Anthony**) **ET AL.**, *Essentials of Sociology*, New York: Norton, 2006.

HAMILTON (W. D.), "Geometry For The Selfish Herd," *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, Vol. 31, No. 2, 1971, pp. 295-311.

HAWKES (Charles) ET AL., *Images of Society: Introduction to Anthropology, Psychology, and Sociology*, McGraw-Hill Ryerson School, 2001, pp. 257-273.

HOMANS (George Caspar), Social Behavior: Its Elementary Forms, New York: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, 1974.

JANIS (Irving L.), *Victims of Groupthink*, 2nd ed., Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1982.

JOHNSON (Norris R.), "Panic at 'The Who Concert Stampede': An Empirical Assessment," Social *Problems*, Vol. 34, No. 4, 1987, pp. 362-73.

JONES (John. E.), "A Model of Group Development," in PFEIFFER (J. William) ET AL. (ed.), *The 1973 Annual Handbook for Group Facilitators*, Iowa City: Iowa University Associates Publishers and Consultants, 1973.

JUNG (Carl), *The Archetypes and the Collective Unconscious*, 2nd ed., Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1981, pp.

JUNG (Carl), *The Development of Personality*, London: Routledge, 1991.

KENNY (John M.) EL AL., Crowd Behavior, Crowd Control, and the Use of Non-Lethal Weapons, Institute for Non-Lethal Defense Technologies, Human Effects Advisory Panel, Report of Findings, January 2001.

KUNIN (Seth D.), Religion: The Modern Theories, Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2003.

LEWIN (**Kurt**), "Frontiers in Group Dynamics: Concept, Method and Reality in Social Science; Social Equilibria and Social Change," *Human Relations*, Vol. 1, 1947, pp. 5-41.

LEWIN (Kurt), Resolving Social Conflicts: Field Theory in Social Science, Washington, DC.: American Psychological Association, 1997.

LUI (**Kim Man**) & **CHAN** (**Keith C. C.**), Software Development Rhythms: Harmonizing Agile Practices for Synergy, Hoboken: Wiley-Interscience, 2008.

MACKAY (Charles), Extraordinary Popular Delusions and the Madness of Crowds, New York: L. C. Page & Company, 1932.

MCCAULEY (Clark), "The Nature of Social Influence in Groupthink: Compliance and Internalization," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, Vol. 57, No. 2, 1989, pp. 250-260.

MCDOUGALL (William), The Group Mind, New York: Arno Press, 1973.

MCPHAIL (**Clark**), "Blumer's Theory of Collective Behavior: The Development of a Non-Symbolic Interaction Explanation," *Sociological Quarterly*, Vol. 30, No. 3, 1989, pp. 401-423.

MCPHAIL (Clark), The Myth of the Madding Crowd, New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1991.

MYERS (David G.) ET AL., Social Psychology, 4th ed., Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson, 2009.

OTTAVIANI (Marco) & SORENSON (Peter), "Herd Behavior and Investment: Comment," *American Economic Review*, Vol. 90, No. 3, 2000, pp. 695-704.

PARK (Robert Ezra), On Social Control and Collective Behavior, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1967.

PARK (Robert Ezra), *The Crowd and the Public and Other Essays*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1972.

PECJ (M. Scott), *The Different Drum: Community-Making and Peace*, New York: Simon and Schuster, 1987.

PRECHTER (**Robert R., J.**), *The Wave Principle of Human Social Behavior*, Gainesville: New Classics Library, 1999.

RHEINGOLD (Howard), *Smart Mobs: The Next Social Revolution*, Cambridge: Perseus Publishing, 2002.

REICH (Wilhelm), Mass Psychology of Fascism, New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1970.

ROOK (Laurens), "An Economic Psychological Approach to Herd Behavior," *Journal of Economic Issues*, Vol. 40, No. 1, 2006, pp. 75-95.

RULE (James B.), *Theories of Civil Violence*, Berkeley: University of California, 1988.

SAFIRE (William), "On langauge: Groupthink," New York Times, August 8, 2004.

SCHAFER (Mark) & CRICHLOW (Scott), "Antecedents of groupthink: A Quantitative Study," *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, Vol. 40, No. 3, 1996, pp. 415-435.

SCHEIN (**Edgar H.**), *Process Consultation: Its Role in Organization Development*, Reading: Addison-Wesley, 1969.

SCHUTZ (William), FIRO: A Three-Dimensional Theory of Interpersonal Behavior, New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1958.

SEWELL (William H.), "Some Reflections on the Golden Age of Interdisciplinary Social Psychology," *Annual Review of Sociology*, Vol. 15, 1989, pp. 1-16.

SHILLER (Robert J.), Irrational Exuberance, 2nd ed., Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2005.

SMELSER (Neril J.), Theory of Collective Behavior, New York: Free Press of Glencoe, 1963.

STANFORD (**Craig B.**), "Avoiding Predators: Expectations and Evidence in Primate Antipredator Behaviour," *International Journal of Primatology*, Vol. 23, No. 4, 2001, pp. 741-757.

SUN (**Ron**), *The Cambridge Handbook of Computational Psychology*, Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press, 2008.

SUROWIECKI (James), *The Wisdom of Crowd: Why the Many Are Smarter Than the Few and How Collective Wisdom Shapes Business*, New York: Doubleday, 2004.

TARDE (Gabriel), Les lois de l'imitation: étude sociologique, Paris: F. Alcan, 1921.

TARDE (Gabriel), La logique sociale, Paris: Félix Alcan, 1895.

TARDE (Gabriel), L'opinion et la foule, Paris: F. Alcan, 1901.

TROTTER (Wilfred), "Herd Instinct and Its bearing on the Psychology of Civilized Man," *Sociological Review*, Vol. 1, 1908, pp. 227-248, Vol. 2, 1909, pp. 31-54.

TROTTER (Wilfred), The Instincts of the Herd in Peace and War, London: E. Benn, 1930.

TUCKMAN (**Bruce W.**), "Developmental Sequence in Small Groups", *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 63, No. 6, 1965, pp. 384-399.

UWE (Flick), *The Psychology of the Social*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.

VAUGHAN (**Diane**), *The Challenger Launch Decision: Risky Technology, Culture, and Deviance at NASA*, Chicago: University of and Chicago Press, 1996.

WHYTE (**Glen**), "Groupthink Reconsidered", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 14, No. 1, 1989, pp. 40-56.

WITTE (Erich H.) & DAVIS (James H.), Understanding Group Behavior: Consensual Action by Small Groups, Mahwah: L. Erlbaum, 1996.